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As a j-e ">

. Dou

played a very important part in defending human rights in the

tifdle wewg yvears before the revolution.Yand you played an active

art in the revolution J.i-.;elf is—di:d—e%he-f—seea—la&—and—see—:.—a—l—a:st-’g
F | heared
( Mﬂ:g‘;fet, by August 1979 the crowds in Tehran
i shouting mﬁ&ﬂwm, ;!arglbar Mafin Daftari, e==% J° J
o T e T L P T T P S vy

e o oy an

A - OO E T
.

re o ST

- ave LppOrted w3 = I = = Sl

v
las the lader clerical dictatorship,qeessssls® inevitable, or

(X M;c.deW‘rs
could an alternative outcome have been fought for if Hhad
had more foresight or more political force? -NamosFersSVEIEEEe
HiTTS o

ot

A"' Had the people hadLgreatQ
foresight(, especially the intellectuals -hy-it-rrj{s did the cler'&,

the situation would not have been the same s FETOUSSFSSoRDREIvVe
- , ; i é s i |

cemeTto—the—econciusion waet Tlic cle&s were more organized and
. amol

be '

better prepared from at least two years

e Pirlsine s ita dsariduor
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"k_gome n Marc 1977, wimmm they started organizing their
Islamic comm:.ttee ia5foc1atlon ever—ia—the-lUS-and-FureBe. 7o
ﬁf&m Iran(wm
bﬁe Hseisinrrowsmeesiipfisliieel® sccular intelligentsia,

o
Amisiiiaimdadm® was[thinking of fighting the Shah,M

FFvse.

dispersed manner, i - Organtred

.
—

I remember it, right dedefods@®® up to the day when Khomeini arrived
in Iran, and introduced Bazargan as his prime minister, no-one

A wa s
had ﬂl’r@ought that J religious government b@ going

Lo come about, although there were rellti;j\ous factions in Iran who

o~ i ) VS é'\’wm' .
were Mthe slog L :
<Y

o¥ganized © one thuugt t/hai’;/t,h%y f#1d be already disc

the #&fkeover during/'lzhe”fast si#mefiths, perhaps withe€ertain

-
-

people coming from, I mea#f, he® can we describgfChem
it .

-~
ymérican side the-&ffair, which hae hink come out now

in the biogp&Dhies afid memoirs - pgele like Yazdi, like Beheshjpd¥
likeg@Obtzadel; like Bazargap Shamran, I don't know, he®was

always +h the backgrouype.

4‘ ‘ A‘ o i

Do you me
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they were di cussiqgfiith the Americansy# or they were doing what

i
#f/

/
the Americans wahted? gﬁr/ ///
at was happenmnggWas this. Tite Americasq” when they

y
4
5

and they found, ‘mme: 'heyj§{£EOVer=n:;”hally for them-

affternative and tg

an alternativefwhich” cou >
would somephbw sa Fheixf . . And the
best alger :

whicil' they

‘@9 of Ba
1

he had writtes in his book,

didn't read hi

5 le_hovme iws rn lslamc JWHMM
Many people had not read h{book[-’la—r:y ramgbe did not take
Hotert=—TS

- . +has- Heer
him seriously. AmiseREUESWEER Cthers wae thought,**—

@@mesad national front of all Iranians fighting dissmsowsiepSEmes

R,
the /éhah,.“iz should move ahead together, asteewewsweisymkkehis )




@md One odmmisive reasong why )all

g&j’affactlons,@r Jﬁ W the sudden

appointment of Bazargan wyfmiiiemsttmmagy and the declaration

that a revolutionary council already exists)iijiiiR was tvesfocms

that Khomeini clearly tossseaueae and officially declared that
Bazargan's i@ @® job ﬂwwgo start working for tisesessesslsstdas —
mend=—af 2 conmgﬁwasserﬁbm@%int@w.

Vs vensodmedfnages Andphe betrayed

Both of them. “;’ fargan tried hig- best not to do it, I mea

do it in fact 5 o comply with e wishes of KheMeini - first

coming the democrati sTamic republds ""’ having to go

own model constigas

tually deciding that what Kh €Tni says
t obeved and establlshing .k rticular

or College of Experts
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destryyed much od 'S"AVAK, deg#royed much of the gpmy, brought a

lot of arxge®into the hafids of the militap reedom fighters which

2 .
- "

in f"turne to __"é:ome some sort @f guardntee for the safety

off the later gfposition to Khom€inis

Iﬁ’-ﬁ- :@ gfengt want the 21st

fa<h't that type of geffss insmrzection tolfinish

S f.ooklng back on it, weessshge the

interests of the secular and democratic forces in Iran jessise

&

been better served if Bakhtiar had remained in power< He would
have created a ghewéf liberal bourgeois regime,/q_;t he would
have deflated Khomeini and he would have created ¢me conditions
in which,%ﬂ, the left
could have developed. OSSO
a N ; : iy I NE— a
e i N— ; TS

4H*.i.'.!.-.!==’!5 "rhp pease 15 +ar

ik No,.;-——-—-ﬁ&u—r—h AmEcan—te T Sou R

vaiphelekpeseeauRc Cakhtiar came into power believing gummisme he 4’"}"'(




Cave =z @
gt

Lthe Pahlavi regime and speigmt® the 1906 constitution, tacsieesswed:nt
. g"fé) [ @é{ : ;
ﬁ*wh:.chlﬂh that monarchy in Iran is & permenant tbedr
wm N 2 y TWe
b[\the appearance of Mahdi.

Aii- society gaismh was going

‘.n-‘.,
through a very strong revolutionary process, _4!-“ 3
: : v

ol .
Mb ho longer)could /tolerate Py A

type of regime,

| ﬁ B
i L R R e I B L
wnoHave Ei

amvd thar
WA except havé the ghah leave WLH

was adl under a general agreement with the Sll'lah, with the Americans
|4e
and with Khomeini,

Pt
refus to hand over the

: Lradio and television (Qto the democratic organizations.
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SOMETE

=
SoRers—to—use. The Qéuncil
strikersSin thgffadiOMtelevision systemy

T [y peruruwing
on-to ~come—beek to work, b
~

decide uponI;hé/program-

would fiﬁﬁfit in the Bafhf

i

A : ; . . ; .
Jranian Jurists, in the AssQcilatig franian University

Hrofessors, , in the Committee for

the Defense of Political

bpresented” : ' 8c fivVe, six associations,
Lth only . / oyncil on that council

2

W=
tiar>to the end,insisted ON ' FRFrRRS

e radioktelevision himself, wwith—the—men—tha

And the strikers e not prepared to cooperate under that sy@tem
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-d§ ore. They had thought of something %ike, for example, hﬁ fh“‘ﬁmx\
ew 25 ] wAg

BBC., & in conjunction with the[gssociations . Athat

would havwe changed the situation 5 Because)when,on the

HHﬂ .Fd"f

S E—5 ﬁ people went and took over the television ¥
wee wasrey by tlomesn. Mo Z ‘

== a —-d%L il the fprovisional governmen?i_ offi€ially 0vbﬂ-.

- 'S
S arre—ta -.!?, and.é_prov151onal government ssm had been e

created under sucha ircumstances that no one couldgdnake the

objections to shie tha-\they were mak to Bakhtifir. 744%;f"'"~"' =
the clevd @ _
3 e

Did you ever try to meet hif

//J
!'/
5 N e : :
I nave never met Khomeini. ZAndiLjVe never asked to se im.

o

e

///
%\
I had in fact fhe changle to see him hg\; he was in Paris He
. - A\
arrived in Paris whgh I was in/Aﬁérica. And I flew from America

to Londen, this 8 off recqrdl
4 /

Q) e

# % i
0.K. shoyfd we on to the second part about theVWational
Democrfftic Frént. How you set it up and. If you d%‘ld just

sayg#how it was established, the meeting and what the' :oups




J

@

llberal

| progressiv

ahidin were
e secular forces in Iran were weak. The Mug

g —— — —= =x ucme Intelligentsia

has such a role in Iran that they could have stopped this tidal

wave,even if they had wanted to. QuuiessesshlesihenemitreomRRRNg-

5 V(-J
! 7 w ar—
i I i o tc:Z between an

organized group and an unorganized majority. YgiieEciEEiNCREEITHCR,
The people veeesSeelUENEER. who were leading the movement

i

within Iran, were mainly intellec,tuals‘é/u the

Writer's Association, 1‘-Mgrﬂgrofessc::r:.s and

students, vikshhaiaesemmmteaasmmugh jurists and lawyers,

_ we wene also
@R later e judges and doctors,
workers in the oil fields and in some factories) as well as govern-

ment workers,
Tniedireoireensemnenektdeiieieisisiomes. They had organized
their strike committees, and immmsisnd- cven wewmmssmsd their central

committee i for coordinating strikes, ik

ﬁw But these- happened far too late,
e " ; S
}Iﬁd T JaESTE e, notAthe way houid have happened‘—h\

s = = 0 2 o —
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also very weak at that time.

‘S

E;en if they had known that Khomeini was a clerical fascist, and
that he understood political power, there was wemy little they
could have done about it. Ytk itd not as if the intelligentsia
has such a role in Iran that they could have stopped this tidal

wave,even if they had wanted to.

" auk
' w aA—
M "“g tts/rdbetween an

organized group and an unorganized majority. %giesciesluerEes e,
E'&e people viheswesNePUENEER who were leading the movement

e

within Iran, were mainly time intellegtuals‘é/'m the

Writer's Association, H professors and

students, iiimhoimey——— jurists and lawyers, a
Thone werme also
@l later emmisige judges and doctors, GfEsewepamE=ge=ewerrel % i

workers in the oil fields and in some factories) as well as govern-

ment workers_

Tnlimadeiteoireeasemmenekadeineisisisimmes:.  They had organized

their strike committees, and wasmmism<- cven wmgmmmimmed their central

committee

for coordinating strikes, omih

ﬁw‘ But these- happened far too late,
/-__\
}16& L mpenEd-, notLthe way houu.d have happened"—h\

S T
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e slogan Whﬁid{was the slogan of the

people, and would have wwhether Khomeini had said

7> <
it or not. But =ims he was the first person wit: e
his fundzaentalists had already organized themselves i

within the establish-

ment wi@e, into certain clique

. wa%mt the wamp ©f—=bhe-people. iinnimens-
slamic governmen The % of the people

was to get rid of the dictator, 3 and to

establish some sort of sovereignty gvéhemselVes. Suinebhestade

__Hﬂl_.a---- ld

#8 not trus homeini ,«&% "did

o

o e T fonal leader, jofld have

e
never thought tha e would eveénmtually wantg € become a dictator
i g
=~ a

in the forM 4 #1though he had writte

bog& on that subject. But mo of the things th ee3id in




o
Pakis and in some o -'-’declarations, although they did not

specifisally ovemfule his intenti , for = farqgih,

but they QaffRow intimated it he woulde#®slong with € wishes

of tHgee in oppositiongfh genera And it was gep€rally also

Ought that afief all he @gfa mullah and a mpdllah has to talk

like a mulld&h. are is, in j = '
but g ! iti '

e he's #fr'a coalition or g#eyernment, he

--" at coaltition, apd he has shown

he gfoild. ean even ose who

lg_,lulleh .
.n_..-——-—Dﬁ'Fhe minute that 1arr1veu, of course, many ww

wes

TGkt ab-naadmnl: , that he .g\go:l.ng to polarize the political
line-up in Iran, dhcmhemkittmyaieey t0 mOve W society in cenowed

SRR -2 rightist,—raaciseses®; and perhapsgcfals‘iist %ﬁx
N ¢

with the help of the reactionary left,

beginning

V‘M“Af\ ?ﬂhw : -
 le- Shok €alized this

mﬁhat was ohe e reason’fly manE ;
he b Man ove lighw HGSMIL e
people/ including myself’“ and dismmentesiblaiing hought of

forming the National Democratic Front{to stop this polarization.
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AL\WﬂAaLM Macé ""ez(/wM'

o ’l:” “W*"”Liw By b

meetln was organized by some of the
friends who had been working with me,
ith-tReMr—ITI=LaiPT, 1n daEferemt-mrttere suallag thi*pll-i-i

o
Committee for the Defense of Political Prisoners, ukanother

group that -we had formed\m to publish a
w

bulletin m the newspapers,

whielr were on strike o fluemmi T adred

-h PpQ®®d bVl the Writer's Association

wes

gl NO that tmsmeeed=>the Shah's regime #w gone and the

anniversary of Mossadegh's
we s /)
death '-'Anearu,zhlt’here should be some sort of occasion upon which

abir=foregs, all zdmeweed=ww progressive forces wimewswe=e involved
Ml&

in this wew revolutionary Qroces i )
/glhab's
especially those who ha%ﬁeft thel?ra.sons aissbivessfiionl-y should

gather k;/j” and pay their respects ,seusssemmni.
MW those who <wase organizng
W'z < jovns

this Khomeini's actx and Bazargan's compliance with

A
the o

particularly SoGmiiidem@l the secretive way that thej Revolutionary
Council was formed and imposed, =g the way their prime minister
was appointed/ and the way groups supporting Khomeini attacked

all secular people who participated in marches/ even stk




A
w—ﬂx'l weeks before Khomeini's arrival, M after the release

of the first group of "dangerous" political prisoners. Viesses

t{‘hey even tried to run over sy women that participated

in the marc@

3 E = = e i EERdd

= TE e | i
é

it ho ke oo TR PEENES e g Lherefore we thought
v i
of forming a platform @acceptable By all political groups
Cﬁﬁmaq»qéwcaé
_eheeeeweeeee e, - apmmimeesee+ Mossadegh -wee a symbol

of democracy in Iran and a symbol of political cooperation of

all forces,

Islamic ngifonalist, was he? ---;-.--"f was a Muslim but

beligaed in .

No. He was a secudar man Tiew ip#seCularism and he

believed in agMivision of ecclesiast'm the state that's

why he not contin 1Ke Kashanj#, and with the
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and they wé&re among the generg@l committee for the solidarity of

all i ikers.\ And they ngé represented there. *:v“bne of the

&

r o
ajfis was to save that gommittee also.
' v
r

The committee w}; called ?

v

4
Komiteh Hgmbastayieh Ettazsb

v

f_

Andfthis was nationwide?f
/i

i

A

o
d &
o

This was a Tehrapfwide committee with certain contacts and liasons

for example /z‘h the oil fields.

g
#
e

And pg —fically it was contpflled by who? > Or g< it not

AL

P
- 2
y <
e N

/ .'/,/
It was politically g#ntyolled by the si,ﬁiarist~ but not by

r ;
one organizatio ,/ Nofv, for examplg#d the Writer's Associati®
s g

=

e Rt . N, P

or the Iranig Assgciation of Jéirists, the lawyers, th€y were
7 &

o

asked to g#nd reghresentatiyés to this committee. &

>
7
4
4
e

It #Msn't Fust whitd collar workers also ;J%ustrial...

No, ng. It was everyone. It was agfieneral solidarity committee

betfieen all strikers in Greaterdfehran. I mean, to safeguard all

- - . oL S a1 shed .

228> The general idea was that

cadslssmemeg cr sonalities and people who had been active misniefew—"n"




-®

«wmps before the downfall of the Shah would participate in this
front. Smaller political organizations which had been formed
recently, or had existed abroad and had arrived in Iran ==
SekEakesseeedlp, could participate in itzw And this was rather

successful hagmesn ffhny small organizations came, quiskedgneNEs-

eyl . And theAFront was formed in coordination with

both the Fedayi@and the Mujahidhjbw—
the—platEoTm Peroratatc. /T‘Hey hget- approved the platform and

togmmeewsd agreed to have some sort of liason with the Front ,

e

L¥Torm with you didn't hegg®at Abmad Bbad.

And also whe® happened at Ahmad Obgg@fwas that we felt at the time

-

that L€ Qgressive forces real forces which ha#®dght

v
o

N

#Pout this revolutionary e€ess which led to ;_.-"' downfall
of dictatorship, Ly e absolute estgifishment of Iranian

5 >

independence#fron all fign intergs ehce, I mean this wa
feelipe®at the time, imperialjsfl in view, we felt th

comprised of the Fedayiis the MU} ahids and ﬁfogressiVe




to mentian, that briefs us to the events O, Ayan Degan

o

As I see it, J#*wasn't just the issue®of7Ayan Degan begafse the

climate which Ayan Déwgan At "uppressed was e climate of

thg®taked elections fop#the majlis. I meg he key issue was

democracy and noj#ensorship, if I ma & put_it that ws

paockeins e MOCTACy ahd AEE CENESOLShip.

Tl A J‘M ot el

{ Q l the National Democratic

awl,{»e/a cleshh wirh
Front was suppressed and iaEeSl vou went undergroundL\aﬂuat

saemimle.t. The main question was democracy,m

,_:—ﬂqm— e
taw the regime Jemils

thileh had promised a constituent assembly and wﬁ"w

also wvery i concerned

US..&/’\.
the so-called "hezbollahi"{to suppress the free press,




Wsuch as the ;Bar Association, =wshk
U aesoT-alove

&8 the Writer'sAand the[university and the students. We were

also very rg@mh concerned with the way the regime had reacted
towards the aspirations of the Iranian nationalitw*a‘.
Paesmeemmlpes, such as the people of Kurdistan Gasmesessissssheospeopices

OEdvardistan-and—the aspirrtions—ef-othergroups—such—as—t 1

Hie sammt
Shlissamens . Ve lﬁ-ﬂ&_ﬁ- about the actions afsmse

ool

SeNerznenbesnmgr attitudes of the government towards the

rights of women in general ,and in particular the ity
el i wivear o

vasesbarted pysuppEessiay L onoL i udqesI : o

thought the best way of kee?ing the Iranian people on the left

informed-’d on the mt.:nve}~ on the alert,

wes U2 WMZEEW!M g

}\throw_.lgh a free press. J4mmeto hang on to a free press

gidére
et
ol veriy

with fieseeistmtiningly our /teeth. We had organized a

council of solidarity of the Iranian nationalities and peoples

mgreTNTTrOEtsluml-;, in the National Democratic Front. s

We were trying to organize a council of solidarity of all women's




democratic movements in Iran,

PR g | :

-_-iELa conference of the Iranian nationalities -wivhssSasssitcad

v ARE | g4
the headquarters of the National Democratir:—lront/\ i

fe prec2mpat=rt S e
Mejfrom Wﬁﬁ_, urdish,
Turkeman, Baluchis, and Arabzorgann.zatlons W

main outcow
swmmEEeeny, ( was GimigeesmgElt o congress of the peoples of Iran

g ”\—y
“aasEseeTETEs——a—:- 1 th the participation of all
political the wnorovalites

P iinsaaminniesmssnl’| /organizations of

held in Mahabatl i Kwdlicran
uSt), WiE——"
vlte o—tf (o0 Tedrar
the m Front

}*J(J (::’
nsniiseesag< had dec:.ded T to t}Me elections
(A e_pa u SHR:

for the College of Expertii

n mw-:?f\l‘”‘
ity TR OTaa ) - }\'i‘he dﬁ&éngress in Mahabat/, was
lz be & Hurespt-— it uv‘dtfl/( i
somehow judged by the Khomeini camp @,{Be more
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representative of the’Ira

WMollege of experts, college of peoples and political organigcdltm )

all@ to gether

eive reCOgnltlon by a
v Vol

Oy - e o/ rde",’j‘-;F v i
To &u-ﬂe this,[ Le

: - they attacked Fhe .m‘{léruﬂﬂﬂﬁ
e, gt i (O pichor dee daily - _ e
r #—Aya diegan.

o ol ;
which had tésamimesssst circulation - onc nillion GEEFes.

CFlfs e o west

@per Aiawewwswas—-called

-m; Keyhan Aza# , ’%Eree KayharD) e
), i Hie g ot
%Iadaa. Azadl another daily paper +-

Hio weelz FN&J Cad)

and m our own organ, (

ese+—oOcthed ewspap

B e main-and the ngg mportant attae” 2 @@t bDecause

of itS press yd®( was the o tati % 3 j rotary

press

shor i Apaf it e_:;‘e«oﬁl'i; existed two other
~  Keyhan ,
in TEKXAN And s Lttilaa

been taken over alrgad¥y by Bonyada Mustazzafin.

—

tAicle abou ‘Whi

l-- # gctdally |took ove
/
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w:.th-ﬁt great/\}narch /v:rﬁ:.ch WESSF U gORRg b hea—gampia

8., (hundreds of thousands of people S
2ol 1V fo puw St pures @aios WL
the prime minister's office.z ‘b

11 nd

2 / that there was

a general plot to sepa Tom Iran | el e

W& ongres
Jé‘—ig——) Lo el &

ln Mahaba%

a'@tmf—m e

Kurdi . hliﬁat was ishe

tHwwe- when Khalkali appeared on the scene and -_- massacm

Lee
,(' «?»v't 6t '“70[ Copelo tedd +
‘J’the Kurds;gw i H;;" 414— *—L"”Ay oA o (s +he

2
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- We in the National Democratlc Front BRSSO o sccond PR L,rff{
Ll Hot ut Avfiwcr 1572 e : . 3
pened more or less on e same day
+[4M,amlliﬂ /ewq 2‘

as the c_O_up__d_ei-.aJ:I d—-i---a—-—m-mm

at Heap FHuag
'Fhe only political organization whic eallze%that“ resistance

Wwaa_ e o Lo
) : A bring e t plot into
the open was the iWational Democratic Front. SIS,
with

No solidarity im the march was expressed by any ot;zer polltlcal
ST s e S8 S e e

organization. But since it was a popular movement -
A

IWW

Vil
to say that the members of wl/other poliftical organizations

participated in the march, without the knowledge and “WM

of their own organizationms.
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number of guestions i
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¥ OW“M (1] Ui |5 g -
osmiiggy the final crisis a}— ’”"""“‘7/ 3 (j tws
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e mentioned, as Tu-"-ﬁafti, or the British hands and those working
for Ayatolla -éhani at fhe timgg€oo. These were sgefie of the thiggs
they digsand at the same tig#, the machinery gwfsted-Before the coup
d'gylt, practdeally, yfwmxk but it dige®™t yefk - you know just
waited to be arreg#ed That was gther fault. You kngs Hianari (?)
comes forwarg#vith certain~pg¥nts I think Hianagd or some other
Tudeh pgpfly writer, recgftly but, contactips Mossadeq, which I
heapgf that only ong#Perspfi [inaudible QStion] No, no. Kianu

ianuri comes +» I mean some recep® publicabigns of Tudg party
trying, ip#theseHublications ey try to in fact gfe excuses and
reasgs for rheir actionggfuring the coup d'egp. Among Sther ngs

ey sa hey contagyd Mossadeq, which®ey did, but tj ast minutes
g WaS gONe. SN Case,—tAeY ate RS R £
« They had a good political organization, with a military
adne bdie_
» and they could/come out in favor of Mosaadeq as an
organization,
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them actively paz# ated in the coup d'e ;I‘he fundamentalists
edayan 4 &
in the forp#Of Xdaxan Islam -~ peoplefike-Khomeini and the ,;2:‘

of thgfredayan Islam, Navob Sya# ,-4nd the whole crowg €t them.
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Was Khomefni with theMm
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Mossadeq couldz\haveisqlved the @il problem and come to some

sort of agreement, JistiesisEapbinE————I——= 1t was not possible.

That's why we had the coup d'etat. TIe main concern of Mossadeq
. Lok
was not the oil question as theEusSwewwser.. lc saw the oil

: : ; {« 3)
question i rthe light of his slogan o Freedom, Liberty and Independence@
ediinsedenactseusiatniintekaninhismmtl= o thought the solution

| woulthogether with the eventual establishment of his
el objectives. That's why he|gave up/at one point completely/all
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rErTtirrtonesineyeonerwis o was always ready to negotiate. But

he did not count on negotiations and that's why he launched his
T

s ot
i A Ll i peeliminaryAreforms mmimmmmg. That's why he

began his policy of economy without o0il and wiasdmks why he asked

for special powers from the/lfarliament.i'm

Mossadeq had a long-term

and other negotiations @ theus 1at that /Qude*®™ 1o wait for

-

and ya#€ing the time of the pe e i'IRan. You would 16
= g

finite periods in the

any measures 4% rinally establish his g jectives is wasting time,

1) up to the poig : —ac ot of

powers frg : 7

polid® before that. You
against him whows==

he actually begg is progras Arid the program

initial ppe¥raf, provisional Program =>in fgz

keyg#Ones, /Foundation— ones of Irapa

state.

see it that way?




I think he did. He never uttered it, because Mossadeq felt he should
not enter the game of ideology in Iran. I remember one day talking

to him. News had come that Kenyatta had formed, after the independence

of Kenya, news had come that Kenyatta had formed his political party.

That was how many years ago - 20? He said, this is his mistake and
Kenyatta will lose now. I said why? He said, look they think they're
independent; they're not, They think they've got rid of-coﬁonialism;
they have not. They've just won their initial battle and their
nation - at least the Progressive forces in fﬁ;I;-nation, or the
democratic forces in the country - they need a unified leadership
which does not enter any particular party or ideological arena, but
would in practice do the things which would establish the welfare

of their people. This was his actual analysis at the time of Kenyatta,
and he himself, saw himself in that, in those shoes always. That's
why Mossadeq was never the founder of any political party in Iran.,
although he himself, in his youth, had tried to participate in
political parties, which were formed after the constitutional
revolution. He believed in the formation of political parties in
Iran, He encouraged eéveryone to establish political parties and

to encourage others to join political parties. He was ore of the
ersons who, in fact, indirectly, in many manners, encouraged the

third force in Iran - Nerwi Savand, Maliki and his friends. He

though that Malkki and his friends, he told me once, that the right

wing in the National Front wmnkd Vwere criticizing greatly Mossadeq's




letters to the Jamive Socialista Iran, who had just had a congress,

That was in the 1960's, early '60s, from his place of detention in

Ahmad Obat, he'd written a letter to them and commending their
critical of :
worll. THe right wing in the National Front was xkkimizingxihs

him silently, not quietly. :

I talked with them, and I spoke to Mossadeq. He sﬁidlthis
is the only wing, although they have nota accepted them intoathe
Second National Front, I mean the national front which w@s later
known as the Second National Front, whén we formed the third,

\
=R

this im the only wing which has something to say.

Interesting,

And you would find exactly from the minute Mossadeq begins his
reforms, he never started a land reform program, there was never

a land reform by Mossadeq, as éuch, and land reform was Shah's game .
He was distiibuting his own villages, through'his own instruments,
as a game. He was trying to get Mossadeq into that type of land
distribution program, which he never accepted. Very strongly, he
stood against it. This was one of the points which gave rise to
certain criticism of him, or certain superficial leftist thinkers
criticizing as being perhaps pro-landowners and all that, but I
think he did this at the time when he felt ... from superficial
leftwing critics, I mean critics within Iran, and at the time Iranians.
I do not mean later analysis of the situation outside Iran, because

these things have never actually been properly analyzed anywhere,




even within Iran many people don't know what has happened in that

period.

There is no good book on the period - it's a battlefield of myth
about Mradad, but about many other things as well.

The only thing I would way to the spirit of Kenvatta is that perhaps
Kanyatta made a mistake, but on the other hand, if Mossadeq had had
more of a political organization, he might have been able to resist
the court and the fundamentalists more, The conventional analysis
of him as having a popular following, but without organizing that
popular following, seemed to be true. The fact i&, people malle

Mardad is a very important date in the Iranian

calendar, but there wasn't much resistance, was there, on that day?

If was a coup d'etat and, which did not bring, as a result of lack

of certain organizational matters, I mean the only organized group
was Tudeh Party, which could have come out and they didn't. There
were other organized groups too, who came out, but too late, because
they were all taken by surprise as a result of this coup d'etat. It's
very difficult to say whether if Mossadeq had an organization as such
and he had headed a political party, the coup d'etat would not have
come, I do not accept that argumehh. No because knowing Iran and
knwwing the way Iranian politics were carried on at the time, and

how ready Iamanians were to be organized within political groupings,
because Tudeh Party had taken a very important paxk bulk of Iranian

intelligentsia at the time, as its members. The remnants were




divided among smaller groups, within the National Front = the
biggest being the Third Force who had just suffered a break with

the Tédbler's Pmrty of Baghai, treasons on that side you know. Then
there were smaller groups who didn't actually count. The bazaar was,
as such, behind Mossadeq, but could never go further than a guild
organization. ¥ou could not count on bazaar as people who could
actually be organized wibhin political parties,.f Then, being summer,
the university was not open, and the students in fact, organizations
were not ready at hand at the university, mainly at thelfr homes, or
gone on holiday, or in theif home towns. en§§2§:3¢au University

is a very important organization always behind Mossadeq. Of course,
the Tudeh Party having also some influence there, important inflaence
there at the time. It was very difficult to say that you know. It's
very difficult to say that with an organization, Mossadeq would not
have fallen, because Mossadeq had just suffered quite a bit by the
trends leaving the National Front, mainly the Islamic fundamentalist
trend leaving the National Front inthe form of, under the leadership
of Kashani. It had suffered the break by Baghai and his allies, who
actually had perhaps certain connections that haven't come to open
yet for anyone, but, and these are many of the things that would

have counted. The traditional organizations in I aan were to be
counted on only through mosques which could not come out, as such,

on the day of the coup d'etat, many of their leaders being involved

in the coup d'etat itself, vou know, in the form of Kashani, and

others keeping silent. I think it's mainly the result of the reforms.
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mistakes actually could he have comnlitteq/iﬂ;nder theLcircumstances .
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were' concerned. He had his realism of the truth of what was going
on in the then world, but at the same time he felt that he should

put the foundations of independence, and strengthen those, instead

"of, with compromises, allow the continuity of the ancien regmime.

What you have said, you of course think is in his favor, I think it's
in his disfavor. I think the fact that he didn't make compromises
that he lost everything, is a mistake. Ultimately he was overthrown,
and & if you say he might have saved himself through compromises,

or he could have at least tried to make some compromises, surely

that would have been better, partichlarly as now, even the legacy
which he has given to future generations is very clouded because
Khomeini has very deliberately set out to obscure the memory of
Mossadeq, . It's often said as a criticism

of Iranian politicians that they don't know how to compromise.
Sometimes compromises are not a good thing, somethmes they are.

The main question was a factual question: Did he, himself, when

he sat down at the table at , did he say, I made

this mistake or that mistake? Your implication is he didn't.

Well he Bid not make any statement to that point, that's what I'
remember, but I should make a guick comment on what you said. You'
know the heritage he left behind, the legacy, I think has not
been obscured by Khomeini. I also think that the only thing that
the Iranians right now can rely upon, and would give them mingd

and thought and energy to fight Khomeini, is that legacy rather
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I'm sure you're right that the legacy of Mossadeq ak has not
been obscured, Khomeini has tried to obscure it, but ultimately

will fail,

And the only opposition Khomeini has found is the legacy,m than

any thing else, I mean what other opposition has he found?

Well the Mujahidin don't regard themselves as inspired by

Mossadeg do they? They now make MOssadeq one of their heroes but
This is a quite recent development .

Why do they make him a hero?

This is your influence?

No, not necessarily. It's their own analysis. It's not my influence,

I mean, I could talk about Massadeq, but it's their own analysis.

This is what they find in the Iranian society. Of course, the

Mujahidin are not very far away from Mossadeq, because Mujahidin

if you go back to their history, what's their starting point?

The early 1960s.

What do they come out of?

They came from Nezad Azavi.
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Well, for the present fight it's a good thing, and this is what
he meant, because he felt that as long as the goals, the initial
goals of the Iranians are not actually established, this has to
go on and this should be some sort of movement which comildk have
its umbrella over the heads of all those moveing underneath,
whether they realize it or not. And they would realize it at
some point. He felt that at a certain point, when you reach your
goals, your primary objectives, then, of course, this will be a
part of your history. And he would go into the history. But

I think he's not yet in history, he's still present. HE's dead
but he's present, as a leader. I mean, the regime in Iran does
not tolerate his name on the street. Why doesn't it? If he was

dead and he was a part of history, they wmmidmtk would tolerate

it. Because it wouldn't hurt anyone, You would find the total

amount of opposition which has come against Khomeini, effective
opposition,ever since he came forward, and he came forward with

his monopolism, how did it come? Factors which end up, eventually
somewhere with Mbssadeq. Even in the person of Bani Sadr. Even

in the persan of Bazargan. Bazargan, I consider him as an opposition
within the establishment, a loyal opposition. But even the loval
opposition within xkEx®m the establishment takes it points from -

it's said by that line, you krnow., Looka at the cross-section, look

at the line-up.

S0 you see a future for'Mossadeqism in Iran, as well as a past.




Why do you want to call it Mossadeqism? It's his ideas, it's a
legacy, it's a way of conduct for up to a point when you gain
your initial independence and freedom and all that., I see a
present and a future up to the point that, up %k to the minute
that we actually gain our initial objectives. It doesn't make
any difference whether you like.... [interruption].

I mentioned the point ahout superficiality. I meant superficial

analysis.

Are there any other major things you want to say?

The point about this land reform business and Mwssadeqg, if you

want to elaborate it sometime, I'm ready to do it. Remember,
Mossadeq felt that before people can manage their land, they

should be allowed to manage themselves, and learn to manage themselves.
Meaning that taking democracy to the villages and allowing the

people in villages to actually decide for themselves what is

happening in their own liffe and in their own area. He had two

main measures in Iran which I think were the hardest against the
Iranian landowners. One, he abolished all taxes on land - traditional
taxations, you know, where landowners vsed to tax the villages

from their earnings. For example, they had to supply him with

hens, with eggs, and things like this, with meat, with fruit.

hmix It was called taxed, it wasn't roshvet, no. The landowner

had the right, for example, to take one efilg out of every ten

that the villager produced for himself, with his own resources,




because he owned the village. These are feudal rights, more or less.
He abolished those straightuway. And then he thought of keeping

the landowner ofi the land as the manager, and cutting down on

his revenues, so he took twenty percent of his revenues and gave

it straightaway to the villages, 10 percent for them to use in
whichever way they liked, the other 10 percent went to a village

fund. The govermment was obliged to add the equivalent amount

and give technical aid to the villages to work with that money

on village development, They formed an elected council in the
village with two representatives, or three representatives of
the villages, one pepresentative of the government, and one

representative of the landowner.

These were the plan, or this was carridd out?

This was carried out, but halfway, because the coup d'etat came.
But in certain villages I even saw reports of the success of

some of these councils. And they would decide, I mean the things
that always were decided upon by the landowner, & was now being
decided upon by the village council, with the villagers having

a majority there, and the government representative there to
supervise, I mean, things like needing water reservoirs, planting
trees, building the wells, building échools, local schools, building
mosques, public facitities in the village itself. Then they would
have a council for a group of villages which was called Behestan.,
with representatives of villages, all the villages. And this was

now representatives of only villagers, and one represenatative of
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the govermment. Then you had the district council, and so on up

to the 8aShahristan council. In each case, they had to decide
about development in the area, with funds received from villages
and with funds given by the govermment and with the technical

aid of the govermment. In this way, he thought -- and at the

—_— -

same time the talent that the landowner smu%# had acquired through

years of experience of managing the land remained there, as a
partner, as a bigger partner, taking the greater part of the share
in fact, on the land, which would not bring about a setback for
the agricultural production, which was so badly needed because

of the policy of the oilless economy, or economy iw without oil.

This has never been written up, has it, this village councils

program.

[tape ends]

I think its, the second law is called banune izviade daramatarustayan

or something like that (%) I can't remember the name now. I can

find the text of the law for you.

You say it was passed towards the end of %2 1331, which is the beginning
of 1953, or end of 1952,
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HED
political prisoners. Now you said that the SAVAK released

Mus?im political detainees, but not the leftwing, the Mujahidin.

.Can you give us some details of that. Because this i€ very interesting.

In certain contacts that were made with the authorities within
the Shah's establishment and SAVAK, as early &ds autumn and late
summer 1978, we were told in particular th we should not worry
too much about the release of political pPrisoners because every
political prisoner is going to be releéased except for 200-300
persons who were dangerous politica) prisoners. And they will
remain in jail and they will never be freed from the jail. And
these political prisoners, lat BN - I mean what I mentioned
just now, are the exact wor of the Chief of SAVAK, whi h had
been mentioned at the timé, who was General Mogghadam. What
happened later, but October almost every political prisoner.
except those 300 we releésed. And before that, starting from
1977, they had grddually begun releasing political prisoners,
and releasing ose who had been sent into exile from the religious
, who had still one or two years left of their period

of exile in different cities. And by that October, there was

lly none left. I mean, no political prisoners from the

entalists left within the prisons.

00-300
olitical prisoners were all from the left or the Mujahidin.

They were‘;:I\Erqm the left from the Fedaween from the Mujahidin,




from Peykar, from ... few people from Tudeh, like for example,
that doctor, Khavari, I've forgotten his first name, I think i
was Ali. Dr. Khavari was one of those who was still in prison,

but all the other Tudeh ones were also released.

And you, do you think that made a difference to t ultimate
outcome of the struggle. Or do you think that if people like
Rajavi and Najaad and the others Had been released,..
el
You see they were released in two groupsg. "There was one group of
78-80 which included Pak Najad. is’ list was compiled earlier,
before Bakhtiar's arrival, under odr pressure, by the then Minister
of Justice. And when Bakhtiar me into power, when he became
prime minister, he promised tHat he would release all the other
political prisoners, but he/couldn't, in practice, because he
could not find the proper’ list to release them. And the activities
at the bar association/and the sit-in strikes for days at the
Palace of Justice in/the bar association, and the activities of
the afamilies, and/the information they supplied, eventually, ...
As a result of tHis activity, the list was eventually compiled, of

the other two Jundred. And they were released in the middle o

Bakhtiar's time. I can't remember the exact date, Which-

included people like Rajavi, Bani, and so many other

es, that were the leaders of the Fedayeen and the Mujahidin.

But I ?glieve, that had these people been released earlier, people

like Pak Najad, Bani, Rajavi, etc. had they been released
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earlier, the situation would have been very, very much diffefent.
Because they understood Khomeini?

They understood Khomeini they understood all thegse... We, who
were outside, we didn't know what was going on’ in the prisons.

We had no contact at all with the fundamentdlists except those
who were within different democratic assgciations such as the
Jurists Association. [Taleghani?] Taleghani was not a funda-
mentalist, as such. Except those, o were in, for example,

the Jurists Association, but they/were acting as only jurists,
and they were not showing their/cards at all. And the minute
they felt, as early as  say rly January 1979, the fundamentalists
were working within differefht democratic associations. They

all left and they weat to/do their own particular political jobs.
And some of them even came to us and said that, for example, the
Association of Iraniay Jurists has done its purpose, why don't
yvou dissolve it? Even before the Shah's downfall. But before
that we knew very /Alittle about the fundamentalists, and their

organizations.
Nabavi, for g¢xample. Nabavi was telling you to dissolve...
No. Nabgvi was not. Our own colleagues in the association whose

numbeif were small, but later on we discovered that they are

fundamentalists and they've just been working with us up to a

pi}nt and from the time that they felt it's no longer necessary




to work with us and the government is theirs, they left us
completely. We became absolutely secular from then on, because
we no longer had... No, Nabavi said something else, but let's
clarify this. You know, there were about 40 mullahs who were
sent into exile into various cities of Iran by SAVAk for security
reasons from Qom. In Qom, they were together, having, say,
academic discussions. And being together they could not have
anything more than academic discussions. Once they were spread
all over Iran and having the possibility of moving freely within
the area where they were exiled, they could organize themselves
and have better contact to the people and the masses in the area
they were staying in. 1In 1956 they were all relieved of their
exile, and they could go back to their own centers. And from

then on we see gradually...

You mean 1977.

1977, yes. from then on, gradually, all fundamentalists, if you
examine the lists, were released from jail. People like Pak Najad,
and Rajavi who knew the fundamentalists in jail, and who knew
their ideas and who would tell us about them, we had no contact
whatsoever with them. And they were in jail, and they were in
jail until the last few weeks before the downfall of the Shah

and after the departure of the Shah from iran. And therefore,

the pgﬁple outside knew very little about the fundamentalists

and their ideas and their activities and why they were in prison




and what they were doing in prison and the divisions they tried
to build in prison between the secularists and themselves, godless
and themselves, communists and themselv Mujahids and themselves
and we did not have this experience o information of this
experience, outside, to know that ese people cannot?ggd are
not prepared to act within a coaldtion against the Shah. And
they would only move up tof.the Ltime When they are sure that the
administration and the regime/is theirs in the form of a sectarian
fundamentalist regime which/we saw later on. And therefore, some
of these people whom we d¥d not recognize as fundamentalists, but
we recognized as lawyerg with strong Islamic beliefs, and good
freedom fighters, or good civil rights activists, who were within
the Jurists Association, a few within the Writer's Association,
a few within the MAniversitarians association, etc., early in
January when théy felt that the situation was ripe for them to
separate themselves completely from all other activities, they
did, and th¢y left us alone. For example, we had one and a half
our executive committee of seven in the Iranian Associa-
rists. I talk of one and a half, because one of them
solute fundamentalist, and the tther one was in Bazargan's
crowd, /half way here, half way there. They both stopped coming

meetings from then on. One of them was Mr. Zavarei, who

wa:érecently a candidate for presidency, and the second one I

prefer not to mention, because he later on reformed himself. That

was the actual situation. Mr. Nabavi, who had been associated
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with us in the National Front Students Organization, which was
the only students organization. It was the na@ignai’ﬁfQEhizaticn
of students in Iran and it was a front s%ﬁdents of all poli-

-

icies and Nabavi was a-part of that and he wasa very

=,

tical ten
associate of mine. later on he went to jail. When

he came out of jail. 'd become a fun entalist. We didn't

know about it. en he visits he tells us, "Don't bother

about the lease of the rest of the political prisoners,".
EIIT—;;S. And when political prisoners,

I mean the 300 were released, early, 80 something of them, early

in Bakhtiar's period, and some of them in the middle of Bakhtiar's

period, it was too late for them to get organized. But still,

I believe their release had an impact on what happened in February,

meaning on the 21lst, 22nd, and 23rd. They intervened and they

led diffferent groups in Tehran and all over the country and they

led much of the masses who were leaderless in Tehran, in order

to destroy some of the institutions which the fundamentalists

had agreed already with some of the people within the Shah’s

establishment, and had agreed already with some of the advisors,

which had arrived from the US, to keep intact, and in fact in

the course or in the process of a quiet and bloodless talieover

of the government, with Bazargan coming in as prime minister,

and gradually Bakhtiar fading out. And the revolutionary council
taking over, and the chiefs of all the different departments staying
absolutely in obedience and coming forward. But the movement

of the people during those three days destroyed much of the things -
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Fedayan Islam and all other fundamentalist factors of his own

time. And that's why all these fundamentalist factors of his
own time actually cooperated with General Zahedi and the coup
d'etat in 1953. I mean let's clarify this point. I didn't
mean "to some point" I meant definitely. Why I used to some
point I can't remember. But we felt that on that day in March
that was the fifth of March I think would be the best occasion
to make an invitation for the formation of a front the aims of
which would be primarily to stop polarization, secondarily or
parallel to that, to safeguard whatever had been gained as a
result of this revolutionary process. Which meant, first of
all, freedom of expression and press, freedom of assembly and
a few other things which followed it and were at the side of
it, the democratic associations which were able to be formed

during the Shah's day such as the Jurists Association,; the

Universitarians, etc. which we felt were the backbone of any

could act as the backbone of any democratic society and also
to build some sort of coordination among all the progressive
and democratic forces in the Iranian political line-up. In the

middle, moving as far possible to the right and to the left.
What about the worker's councils. Were they a significant force
in the democratic movement or were they just so local that they

really weren't, they were not something you could relate to.

We could relate to some of them, yes. They were not that local
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mullahs represented by Ayatollah Taleghani, the other political
prisoners represented by a'man like Mr. Taher Ahmad Zadeh whose
sons were Fedayiis and who lost their lives during the Shah's

days.

He was a minister in Mossadegh's government wasn't he?

No. Taher Ahmad Zadeh was from Mashad and a small businessman

and he could be representative of several walks of life because

of his past prison record. And myself, chosen by our friends

to make the invitation there for the formation of the front. We
thought this circle : could represent all those who had been active
in the past in fighting the Shah and bringing what was brought
forward and taken over by the Islamic fundamentalists, and rightly.

And this was a place that we could tell the nation that any

Revolutionary Council should be a representative Revolutionary

Council representing all organizations, that is, those present

at Ahmad Obat in the council. And we also felt that those who
would have to be present there should be those who had not been
present in the past. And they should be those who have been

away in Iranian prisons and had not been able to pay their respect,
or to in fact show their solidarity with the ideas of Dr. Mossadegh
and with his aspirations. And we thought that when Mossadegh, some
of his last words was that the future of Iran is in the hands of

the Iranian youth. And he felt that the Iranian youth will find
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its way eventually and will overcome what was imposell upon the
nation by the coup d'etat in 1953. And he felt once the reformist
process of the Shah is over, that would be the time that the
youth of today who begin actually the fight, will be able to bear
the fruits. And we felt that these people who were the repre-
sentatives of that youth, who actually consciously or unconsciously
had acted on the line that Moseadegh had anticipated, should be
there in order to show that its all one movement and one united
movement towards the goals of the Iranian people. And we
felt that those who have actually collaborated with Khomeini and
who had accepted to be within his government are no longer
Mossadeghists as such and have lost their credit within this

movement to be represented at this meeting.

Wasn't Bazargan there though ?

Bazargan was at the meeting, but he did. not speak. There was

Mr. Sanjavi at the meeting - he did not speak.

The first test you had was the actual issue of the Islamic

Republic which came up three (a few) weeks later. What was your
position on that, on the setting up, the referendum on the Islamic

Republic?

Let me add something to what I was saying before, you know, because

we missed out the National Front completely. At this very same
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meeting we felt that National Front by having compromised with
Khomeini has lost its credibility and has deviated from the

line of Mossadegh's aspirations, which was the establishment of

a universal democracy in Iran, and pluralism, secularism, and
respect for the absolute sovereignty of :the people. And we

felt that the National Front is no longer is no longer in Mossadegh's
camp at the time. And we felt that Khomeini's camp means polari-
ation, Mossadegh's camp means unity of action of all walks of

life. Of course they gradually, later on, moved out one by one.

Bakhtiar has some very funny things to say about that. I mean
when he is speaking about them what he says is very interesting.
What attitude did you take to the referendum on the Islamic

Republic - it must have been the beginning of

Unlike Khomeini, we, our analysis of what happened which led to
the fall of the Shah was this, that no revolution had happened,
but the general uprising in the midst of a revolutionary process
had brought the final downfall and the destruction of some of
the institutions which were anti-people institutions. But we

felt that this uprising or grand movement of the people,

tiam as we called it,and not engelab, this speeded up the

whole process to the point where it was a general, in fact,
expression of vote by the people against monarchy and it finally
turned away the monarchy from Iran. But all the same we felt

that any type of future referendum if held in Iran should be
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firstly for further confirming this vote and secondly, confirming

the new regime that the Iranians would want to have as against
that which would be a republic the nature of which should be
decided by constituent assembly. What Khomeini did in his
referendum was he made two choices: £first do you wish the

former regime to return, somehow it meant this, two, would

you like an Islamic Republic? It wasn't an Islamic Republic

or not, it was monarchy or Islamic Republic. It was very
cleverly organized and most undemocratically organized because

it was obvious that the absolute majority of the Iranian people
no longer would want the monarchy, they would want to participate
in some sort of referendum, and under the circumstances where
hiyajan feelings prevailed rather than thinking in a scientific
political sense - people would want to participate in this
referendum to make sure something else is coming. And he banked
on this feeling and he worked on this feeling in orxrder to bring
about a referendum which would somehow give legality to his

idea of Islamic Republic which would otherwise not have received
the amount of votes it received in that referendum. We kamew this
from beforehand. And therefore, we ocould not participated in such
a referendum. We boycotted it. I would say in this referendum

at least 90 percent of the people voted, of those who could have
voted, but of course they were overeager to gather votes that
they even filled up some of their boxes with extra votes to make

it more than 100 percent.

Unless there's something in between that you particularly want




There's a lot more to say, but I think this is a very...

I always thought -of:Ayan Degan as separate from the Kurdistan
thing, but as you say the two were actually directly related.
Perhaps we could not go on to discuss the Shulaya Mogghadamat
itself. There are other things that have happened in between,
but. The National Democratic Front still exists as an organiza-

tion.

Yes. The National Democratic Front continues its activities
after the second August caup d'etat, as we've marked it but
eventually towards the beginning of 1980, its council and its
executive members, in fact its leadership, decided that the
first thingsthat should be accomplished in Iranian society
before everything else, and above everything else, in the

program of the National Democratic Front is to work farther for

establishing a greater front of all political forces which are

progressive and which are democratic and which can combat the
reactionary regime, which is leading the country towards some

sort of Nazism and which will soon in fact diminish all existing
liberties, if there are any still, to absolutely nothing, nil.

And from then on, the first step which was taken towards this

goal was the proposal put forward to Mr. Rajavi that as a leader
of one of the bigger political organizations in Iran, with popular
following, he should present himself as a candidate for presidency.
And the support for his candidacy was given by the National Demo=

cratic Front, by the political factions in Kurdistan. bu the
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The support for his candidacy was given by the National Democratic
Front Dby the political factions in Kurdistan. by the Fedayeen

and uy a few other political organizations in existence. And

we thought this can be the first step,., having a symbolic candi
date for presidency can create a point of unity for all these
organizations and others who have not come within this coalition
for this particular election. We further tried to organize some

sort of action group in which the Mujahidin were the main partner

and which were represented on a special council where we and the

Kurds and othifr democratic personalities and factions were also
present. In coordination with the Mujahidin we tried to establish
this council in order to bring about some sort of unity in the
elections which were going to take place. Again for the purpose
of furthering the idea of a greater front and solidarity among
these groups which we felt was mecessary. By the time the
elections were over and we did not have any candidates of our
own in those elections, we felt that we should support other
people’s candidates and the only candidate that we had was

Dr. Reza Khani and supporting other candidates from other.
all political groups in order to build this solidarity and

make a formation for the keginning of this solidarity in action.
Towards the end of the Iranian year which means March 1980,

the leadership of the Front came to the conclusion that under
the circumstances, considering that political - open political

acticity is becoming rather difficult and distribution of
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newspapers with the pressure and the suppression by the regime
has become even more difficult. It decided to close down its
paper, Azadi. And it decided to stop all open political acti--

cities and it only decided...

But you were already banned as an organization, weren't you?

We were indirectly banned, because it happened all in Bazargan's
regime., Our paper, for example, was banned, but we still
published it - like many others whose papers were banned, and
they still published it, Because, at the time, we decided this
was a coup d'etat, this was illegal, and whatever actions
decided by the regime during this period and after that period
would be arbitrary actions and we are not going to abide by
any arbitrary actions at all, Because we do not recognizé any
legality for this regime and its actions which are arbitrary.
Orders for arrest are arbitrary, therefore we should go under-
ground and not comply with it. Orders for the closure of
newspapers are arbitrary, we should not comply with it. And

many other orders - orders for closing down your offices are'

arbitrary, you should not comply with it. And you should wait
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for them to come and find you. I mean, these were our decisions,
And in these decisions, of course, there were other political
organizations which shared the same ideas.af the time, dLet’'s
go back to our main line - as I said, in March 1980n we decided
we cannot afford to have any further open activities. The
Front should go underground as much as possible, and it should
only take one thing into its hands and work on one point only,
and that point is the establishment of the solidarity front

of all political organizations. And we felt that if we managed
to accomplish this one thing, we have actually paid all our '
debts to the society and the revolution. And that would be the
beginning of furthering the revolutionary process, And from
then on, that has been our activity and all our members and

all our leadership has been as a group and as individuals
commissioned by the group, fulltime, have considered their
fulltime job and activity to work on the formation of this

solidarity front.

You have this shorai ...

Shari Mutadi Chap , for Democracy and Indepen-

dence. The United Council of the Left.
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Is this the committee or is this something separate from the

committee?

No. The leadership of the Front is seaparate from this
Shora, This shora has been formed with the cooperation of one
of the factions of the NDF and that is the Unity of the Left.

rAnd the Unity of the Left...

Is this Bahnan

That is Bahman Niruman and his friends. I mean they're one

of the factions which are in the Front. kThey in fact came

to the concludion that the left in Iran should reorganize

itself, and go over all the past discussions and form a program

in accordance with the realities of the Iranian society. And

this was not only their idea because there were many individuals

in the leftist movement in Iran and many small groups and organiza-
tions had come to the very same conclusion. They eventually got
together and formed this council and of course, once this council
was formed and the program was drawn up, then it was the time

when Bani Sadr was falling and their activities were limited to

small publications internally within themselves. But they're
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a well organized leftist group in Iran, feeling and thinking that
socialism cannot advance without democracy and socialism cannot

remain and be preserved without democracy. And it is firdt

democracy, then independence, then socialism.

Now, you in the name of the National Democratic Front have joined
the (United Council of the Left) -
obviously if you don't want to answer these questions.,..

Reading throught the Shuraia program

there are a number of things that strike one. First of all,

they don't just want a democratic republic, they want a democratic

Islamic republic, And at least Rajavi and Bani Sadr believe in

the Islamic character of any future Iranian Republic. Now

there are strong reasons for saying it andjihgg??eas against
the dictatorship of Khomeini, as long as you believe in the role of
Islam in polities in the way they do, you will have dictatorship
because religious thinking - Islamic, Christian, Jewish, is
authoritarian thinking. Secondly there are many features of

Islam which are inconsistent with any liberal society, it has

to be said, What do you feel about this call for a democratic

Islamic republic? Do you think it's something you can work with?
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I can answer your question up to a point, why not, First of all,
the council for National Resistance, or how do we translate it -
the National Resistance Council, we have felt, and we have seen

as the result of our work for the formation of thet bigger solidarity
front which we've been working on ever since the coup d'etat in
August 1979. And we consider ourselves, before even joining it,

we considered ourself as a part of it. And the coalition that

we were envisaging could not include anyone else primarily but

the Mujahidin and the Kurdish Democratic Party and ourselves

and a few other factions and personalities and then many others
which we could reach and draw to the coalition. And this coalition
and, or this solidarity front, the bigger front which we had

talked of, in the course of events, as a result of the suppression
of Bani Sadr, and the suppression of Mujahidin, and the start

of the executions and the forced departure of Bani Sadr and

Rajavi from Iran, for the reasons which they have already

described themselves, which we won't have to talk about,..These
turn of events eventually brought our work to a point that we

felt that under this title and name and circumstances, the Front

is being formed. Whatever they have said about whatever you

mentioned, such as the program and the title of a future govern-

ment, etc., we have considered as we considered ourselves as a
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natural member of the Council , without even joining it, we have
considered as proposals for this type of discussion in the future.
And not as conceete platform of the council itself. And when we
joined it, as you see it in the paper that I gave you, we joined

it with our reservations on all these points, and we joined it
clearly clarifying the important points which can be considered

as joint ideas, or joint ends for a front. We considered the

front or the council as the body which is going to first overthrow
Khomeini, and second, to sstablish security for the Iranian people,
by establishing democracy through a constituent assembly. And
whatever else should be, in fact, created and brought forward

by a constituent assembly which is elected as a result of universal

suffrage of the Iranian people - everyone included.

Even - they, of course, exclude people who collaborated with the

Shah and people who collaborate with Khomeini, and one only assumes

from their text that they will define who collaborated, so they

can exclude many people, Most of the population of Iran, they
could exclude.,.,

L}

We don't accept such general exclusions., We feel that once
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the Khomeini regime is overthrown, and once a council such as the
National Resistance Council is going to act in the interim
period which should take a very short time, to establish a
constituent assembly, it should do one thing: to first declare
a general amnesty which would clearly define its boundaries.

I mean, not like the general amnesty that Khomeini has been declar-
ing that after each amnesty no one actually knew whether he was
included or not - and everyone could be further prosecuted.,
Because we feel that the new Iran should be bult by all Iranians
because much of it has been destroyed by Khomeini. And every
Iranian who takes part in this rebuilding of its society and
country should be absolutely certain that no one is going to
bother him any more about any past records. We also feel that
the Iranian people have seen too much bloodshed and therefore,
the new people who come forward and, naturally, they come forward
because the people have trusted them and have helped one another
to come and take over. Therefore, these people should make the
people understand that in rebuilding Iran we have no time for
revenge and bloodshed any more. And therefore in order to

safeguard these points, we should repeal capital punishment in

all forms of it so that it cannot be misused even for the, any
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criminal form, classical criminal form for which a necessity had
been formed in the past, felt in the past. And we also feel while
the general amnesty is declared, while bloodshed is stopped and
capistal punishment is repealed effectively, those criminals who
have directly been acting against humanity, against the lives of
Iranian people and who have been directly concerned with the
crimes of the two regimes, who are excluded from the general
amnesty, by this for example I mean the chap who is involved in
accomplishing things in an executionary manner, in an executive
manner, not an executionary manner and he's merely an ordinary
man who says, ’

he should not be involved. Those who have directly been involved
in the crimes, like in the Nazi Germany after the fall of Hitler.
Those have to be prosecuted and in my belief they have to be
prosecuted because of the mistrust, and the distrust that the
world has had in the past and because what has happened in Iran
has concerned humanity at large. I think that they should be
prosecuted under the observance of international bodies who are
competent in doing so. And they should be given every means

for their defence., And these are the only persons and characters

which can be excluded from any process which is going to establish
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democracy in Iran, unless they are acquitted in the courts of the
prosecution. Because I feel, and I personally believe that any
statement at large that such and such a group should be excluded
without specifying how and without specifying the instruments

and the persons themselves, once and for all, this can be an
instrument of misuse in the hands of those who can misuse power,
When we establish laws and when we establish regulations, we
establish them in general for being put into effect by the

wost people and not by the best people. And therefore, we

should make all guarantees. If I am specifying something

and I consider myself as an honest man, which I am perhaps,

I should think of the dishonest man who is going to use this.

The same as Khomeini has used the same influence, the same instru-
ments. He has used the same instruments in all his elections by
providing something for overseers over the candidates, and
approving the candidacies before the candidates can appear as
candidates. And in his past few elections for presidency and

even Bani Sadr's election for presidency, they forced Ra javi to
withdraw. As a result of the same instrument. When I g0, personally,

and the National Democratic Front and its associates, including the

United Council for the Left, when we talk of universal suffrage




we mean universal suffrage in its classical sense,

The problem is...first of all there is just so much hatred in
Iran now, real hatred of everybody who's suffered in their lives,
that they want to take revenge. There is a lot of cruelty, I
mean, the people who have had cruelty done to them, are not
necessarily very nice people themselves. You see this in many
countries., The second problem is that the Mujahidin are courageous
heroic sincere people, but one thing you can't say about them,
they're not democratic in their internal organization or in their
way of thinking. They are like a very orthodox communist party
in this sense, that they are highly centralized, they've never
had a congress, they've never had elections, 0.K. they've been
underground, but never mind, they've come out of the underground,
they exist on a basis of high authoritarian control and their

way of thinking is very dogmatic if one talks to them, This is
the worry. I mean the personality of Rajavi is no guarantee
about the democracy of his organization. And in private, he

has said that he wants power in proportion to the number of
martyrs he has given., And that means, if they're talking about,

and that means they want most of the power for themselves., I

don't think there's any...I think that they are part of the'
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opposition. They have fought Khomeini. But I don't think, given
what they've said and given what one can feel about them that
their own democratic credentials are very high. We have seen

one dictatorship replaced by another one. One can fear that

they will do the same thing themselves, even if they now sincerely

believe they won't. There is no...I mean the best guarantee is

probably that they have to rule with other people, they can't

ot
rule on their own, but I feel that/they could rule on their

own if they'd +try and do so, That wuld be my sense of it,
Maybe this is not something we should discuss, but it's a
worrying feature., And there's too much,.,.Rajavi leaves so many'
things vague, and ultimately it's do you trust him? And well,

I trust him, fine, I trust him now. But you know, in the future

it's very difficutt.

Well, I think that, I know very little about the internal organi-
zation of the Mujahidin. But I know two facts: that the leader-
ship has been acting democratically within itself and there's

not a one man rule in the Mujahidin amongst the Mujahidin, This

I know for a fact. And decisions have been made in the leader-

ship in a most democratic fashion and after consultations and
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discussions with others also, and even outside the Mujahidin, And,
two, in several dealings that we've had with them in the past,

in the course of elections in particular, and in some other
matters, they have acted democratically, as democratically as
expected from any political organization. Especially on that
election council which was formed in 1980, And a third thing

that I can add to this is that the Mujahidin have in the past
never promised things that they could not do and they have never
been dishonest about their doings and promises and they've never
tried to fool another organization or to lead any other organization,
Such as, for example, in our dealings as the NDF with them, astray.
They've been clearcut in their thoughtssand in their statements

and very blunt and nothing ever behind the scenes or any skeletons
in the closet. We've never seen anything like that. And these

are the things that we can judge upon. What has happened in other

places and what the trend of history has been in general in the

Third World, well that is one thing, what we can judge upon right

now is another thing.

How strong do you thingk the regime now is? One gets the impression

it may be stabilizing, but what do you think,
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I think the regime is no longer strong in the way that it was when
the people supported it. Since it's backward and reactionary, and
archaic, therefore it cannot restrengthen itself through progress
either. Through certain artificial and primary economic measures,
perhaps it can lengthen its life in certain economic deals, but
I don't think it can turn to become an established regime economically
unless it completely revises itself and becomes a progressive regime
in all respects which are respected from a progressive regime,.
And the only reason why it exists and it can go on in one way it
is the certain loose institutions it has built for itself for
the suppression of others, such as Islamic groups and different
organizations, such as its committees, And second, because the
alternative for this regime, although it exists, and although it is
strong because it had the support of the people and it has a large

military organization in the Iranian cities, on the Caspian forests

What's happenning in the Caspian forests, you mentioned something?

You also mentioned something about it, about the suppression,

They exist when they are going to be suppressed.

Who are they?
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Mujahidin, there are certain groups affiliated to the left of the

NDF on one side, which are much smaller, and there are other

smaller local groups all over the country, anywhere from Astarat,

Havalesh to Fari.

S50 these are in the traditionally more secular part, northern

part of the country, there is an autonomous guerrilla movement

operating., Since when have they been operating, since the fall

of Bani Sadr?

Since the fall of Bani Sadr, yes.

And this is something substantial.

This is something fairly substantial.

Nothing has been publicized about it at all,

Nothing, anywhere, has been publicized about it, no. But I mean

it publicizes itself in the region. And everyone in the region
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knows that they're there., By the amount of food which is taken
away by them from lorries moving on the roads. They buy them

of course.

So this armed opposition is growing.

And since its strong because it has its armed men also in
Kurdistan, *but it is not ready and politically yet organized,
because the movement inside Iran is only active within the military
groups. And active outside the military groups in the way that

no one is afraid of the regime any more. Criticism exists every--
where, The public appearances critically, exist everywhere,

People sheltering armed men, exists everywhere, People not

giving away others, exists everywhere, These are the only

reasons why the regime has managed to exist so far and may

exist still for some time and may remain still for some time.

What about the religious establishment, and the bazaar, They're
not actively opposing, but do you think they are capable ’of

moving at a certain time?

Well I think there is a faction within the mullahs themselves,
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within the ayatollahs themselves and the religious, erclesiastical
groups who feel that their existence as an establishment is at
stake. And in order to save themselves, they feel that something
should be done against this regime and something should be done also
to separate the ecclesiastical world from the state, And opposition
exists from among these people, some of them reactionaries and
some of them progressive, Also opposition exists among certain
tribal groups which have their formations in the south - Kashkais
and Boir Ahmads, and not only Boir Ahmadis, but all the Mamasani
tribes. That's in the Fars province and adjoining Khuzestan, the
Mamasani tribes, which are united under the Boir Ahmadis, And
opposition dbes exist: among the reigious people in the basaar.
Many of the people in the bazaar, although some have flourished
even under this regime, because of certain transactions, they
feel that that will not have any stability anymore. And, above
all, nat only stability in their businessess, stability in their
business is not as important as their personal security is impor-
tant to them. So they have been putting up resistance and I believe
they have been financing quite a lot of political movements in

Iran. And bazaar has been responsible for much of the financing

of political movements within Iran and abroad. Everyone excludigg

Bakhtiar.

For the legal side of it, one thing you should take in mind
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that Iran is a Nazi regime, the Iranian regime is a Nazi regime,
legally. And, although, its laws are Islamic laws, it's adhering
to the Nazi principle of innocence as against the general principle
of law which says nothing is a crime unless thoseprovided before--
hand, in the law and clearly defined. The Nazi principle used

to say that nothing is a crime except those recognized as a crime
by a court of law, But in Iran they've even gone further than

the Nazi regime, They say nothing is a crime except those
considered as a crime by a pasdar, by a committee man, by a
prosecutor and by a judge, by an Islamic judge. Therefore,
Iranians under the circumstanes, cannot program their lives legally
to act accordingly, to know what action they take, or what move
they do, during the day, can comprise a crime, whether small or

B1E, or noits

It's completely arbitrary.

Absolutely arbitrary.

S50 in no sense can it be said that Islamic law is being implemented,

And in no sense can it be said that Islamic law is being implemented
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hard and fast within certian  boundaries, clear for the people.

Even if it was there would be problems,..

Yes, I agree with pou,.

Yes, Still it would be clear, it would be known,

And the known laws of the land are not clarified either, So I mean

if you want to further specify matters I'm ready for that,




